1979

Wasatch Front Regional Council v. Scott M. Matheson et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a declaratory judgment action seeking construction of the provisions of Sections 39-1-35 and 39-3-2, Utah Code Ann.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Motions for summary judgment were filed by all parties and were argued before the Honorable G. Hal Taylor on December 15, 1978. The court entered its Order on February 2, 1979, granting Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment and denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a reversal of the Order entered below on February 2, 1979.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Wasatch Front is a regional council of the governments in the metropolitan area along the geographical Wasatch Front area. Its purpose is to provide a forum for study and discussion of regional problems of mutual interest to the County Councils of Government within the region, and to prepare comprehensive plans for the growth and development of the region. (R. p.22).

Wasatch Front is a voluntary association having the separate legal status necessary to carry out its functions. It was created pursuant to the Utah Interlocal Co-operation Act, §§ 11-13-1 et seq., Utah Code Ann. (R. p.23).

Membership of Wasatch Front is currently comprised of the Salt Lake County Council of Governments, Davis County Community Correlation Council, Weber Area Council of Governments, Tooele County Council of Governments, and the Morgan County Council of Governments. (R. p. 23).

Wasatch Front currently employs 24 individuals. One of its employees, defendant John Ray McEvelly, is also a member of the Utah Air National Guard (Guard). Two other Wasatch Front employees, Michale Coulam and Douglas Hatterly, are

members of the organized Reserves of the United States military forces (Reserves). (R. p. 24).

It has been, and continues to be, the policy of Wasatch Front to allow its employees, who are also members of the Reserves or Guard, leaves of absence from their jobs for their required annual training with the Reserves or Guard. (R. p. 24).

Prior to March 23, 1978, Wasatch Front paid such Reserve and Guard personnel the full pay they would have received for such annual training periods had they been performing their duties for Wasatch Front in addition to the pay they received from the Guard or Reserves. (R. p.24).

On March 23, 1978, Wasatch Front adopted a resolution changing its military leave pay policy for all of its employees. This new policy provides that Wasatch Front will supplement the employee's military pay to the level of his full Wasatch Front pay, by paying the difference between what the employee would have earned had he been performing his duties for Wasatch Front, rather than in military service for the Reserves or Guard, and the pay received by the employee from the Reserves or Guard. (R. pp. 24-25).

At the time Wasatch Front adopted this new policy, several other agencies, organizations and governmental subdivisions had similar policies of supplementing pay of individuals on military leave. The new policy was adopted

in the good faith belief that Wasatch Front was not an organization subject to the provisions of §§ 39-1-35 or 39-3-2, Utah Code Ann., or if subject thereto, that the policy thus adopted was in accordance with the provisions of said statutes. (R. p. 25).

Defendant McEvilly brought suit in U.S. District Court, District of Utah, against Wasatch Front and its individual members, claiming that Wasatch Front's policy regarding military leave pay violated the provisions of §§ 39-1-35 and 39-3-2, Utah Code Ann., and thereby violated his civil rights under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1985, and his veteran's reemployment rights under 38 U.S.C. § 2024(d). He claims that the Utah statutes entitle him to his full pay as an employee of Wasatch Front for the period of time in which he participated in Guard training in addition to his Guard pay.

The instant declaratory judgment action was commenced by Wasatch Front to resolve these disputed state law issues, which have not been addressed in any reported cases of this state. United States District Judge A. Sherman Christensen ordered that the federal court retain jurisdiction over the federal case but abstain from proceeding further pending a final determination in state court of these issues of state law.

Motions for summary judgment in the instant case were filed by all parties, and were argued before the Honorable

G. Hal Taylor on December 15, 1978. There was no court reporter present. Judge Taylor granted defendants' motions and denied plaintiff's.

Counsel for defendant McEvilly prepared and submitted a proposed Order for approval by the parties. As counsel for plaintiff could not approve said proposed Order, they filed their objections. (R. pp. 70-72). On February 2, 1979, Judge Taylor signed and entered the order prepared by counsel for defendant McEvilly, and on March 1, 1979, plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SECTIONS 39-1-35 and 39-3-2 EACH APPLY TO
DIFFERENT CLASSIFICATIONS OF EMPLOYEES, AND
TO MEMBERS OF DIFFERENT MILITARY ORGANIZATIONS.

Section 39-1-35 was originally enacted in 1917. Its material language has not changed since that time, and presently provides:

All state employees who are or shall become members of the national guard of this state shall be allowed full pay for all time spent on duty at annual encampments or rifle competitions or other duties in connection with the national guard not in service and such time shall not be deducted from any vacations such employees may be entitled to. . . .

This section clearly applies to state employees who are members of the national guard.

In 1941, with the impetus of World War II, § 39-3-1, Utah Code Ann., was adopted. It also has not changed in its material parts since its enactment, and presently provides:

Every officer and employee of the state or of any county, municipal corporation, or governmental district who enlists or is called or inducted into and enters active service in the state militia or any branch of the federal military, naval, or marine service shall be entitled to absent himself from his duties or service while engaged in the performance of active military or naval duty and while going to and returning from such duty. No such officer or employee shall be subjected by any person directly or indirectly by reason of such absence to any loss or diminution of vacation or holiday privilege or be prejudiced by reason of such absence with reference to promotion or continuances in office, employment, reappointment to office, or re-employment.

This section is applicable to a broader range of employees than § 39-1-35, as it covers both employees of the state and also those of any county, municipal corporation, or governmental district. Further, the coverage extends beyond service in the state militia to also include service in any branch of the federal military, naval or marine service. It was intended to ensure that the enumerated public employees would not suffer any diminution of benefits upon their return from active duty.

The title of this 1941 act clearly denotes the scope of both the public employees covered and the military organizations included in this section:

GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES IN MILITARY SERVICE

An Act relating to State Officers and Employees in Military Service and to Provide That All Officers and Employees of the State or Any Municipal Corporation or Political Subdivision of the State Who Are Members of the National Guard, Naval Militia, Members of the Reserve Corps of the United States Army or Forces in the Federal Military, Naval, or Marine Service May Be Absent From Their Places of Employment. Chapter 105, Laws of Utah 1941 (emphasis added).

Thus the distinction is made between employees of the state, of a municipal corporation, and of a political subdivision of the state. The distinction is also made between members of the National Guard and members of the Reserve Corps.

In 1955 the legislature enacted § 39-3-2, Utah Code Ann., which has not been altered since its enactment, and which provides:

All state employees and all employees of any county and municipality thereof who are or shall become members of the organized reserve of the United States army, navy, air force and marines, shall be allowed full pay for all time not in excess of fifteen days per year spent on duty at annual encampment or rifle competition or other duties in connection with the reserve training and instruction requirements of the army, navy, air force and marines of the United States. This leave shall be in addition to annual vacation leave with pay.

Thus the legislature again changed the scope of individuals covered in this statute from the 1917 and 1941 acts. The 1955 act covers both state employees and employees of

counties and municipalities, but does not include the employees of governmental districts and political subdivisions which were included in the 1941 statute. Further, the 1955 act does not cover members of the National Guard, as did both the 1917 and 1941 statutes.

POINT II

SECTION 39-1-35 APPLIES ONLY TO MEMBERS OF THE GUARD, AND SECTION 39-3-2 APPLIES ONLY TO MEMBERS OF THE RESERVE

Defendants contend that members of the Guard are covered by both the 1917 statute (§ 39-1-35) and the 1955 statute (§ 39-3-2). As discussed above, the language of § 39-1-35 does expressly cover members of the National Guard. However, defendants claim that the National Guard is one branch of the "organized reserve of the United States army, navy, air force and marines," and therefore is included under that provision of §39-3-2. They base their claim upon a federal definition contained in 10 U.S.C. § 261(a):

The reserve components of the armed forces are:

- (1) The Army National Guard of the United States.
- (2) The Army Reserve.
- (3) The Naval Reserve.
- (4) The Marine Corps Reserve.
- (5) The Air National Guard of the United States.
- (6) The Air Force Reserve
- (7) The Coast Guard Reserve.

Nevertheless, §39-3-2 uses the terms "organized reserve of the United States army, navy, air force and marines" (emphasis added). Those organizations are specifically listed as items

(3), (4) and (6) above, and it is doubtful that the Utah Legislature intended to include the three unnamed organizations by naming four others.

Even though the federal definition of reserve components does include the Guard, the state is in no way bound by such a definition, and it is not precluded from utilizing different definitions or terminology.

Further, defendants' interpretation leads to an untenable conclusion. If, as defendants contend, § 39-3-2 applies to state employees who are members of the Guard, then it is totally duplicative of parallel provisions in § 39-1-35, and there is therefore no meaning left in much of § 39-1-35. Rules of statutory construction suggest just the opposite result: that the statutes be read together giving meaning to the provisions of both.

This rule of construction was stated by the court in In re Utah Savings and Loan Ass'n., 21 Utah 2d 169, 442 P.2d 929 (1968):

If the latter statute could be looked at separately as the whole law on the subject, the contestants' position might have merit. But that is not the way statutes are to be interpreted and applied. It is true here, as it is in so many areas of the law, that one statute has been enacted at one time with a particular purpose in mind, and that another has been enacted at another time with a different purpose in mind. When this has been done and there is an apparent conflict, it is not proper to put all the emphasis to

one statute, as though it stated all of the law on the subject to the exclusion of the other. They should be looked at together, in their relationship to each other, with a view to reconciling any such apparent conflict and giving each its intended effect insofar as that can be accomplished without nullifying the other. 442 P.2d at 931-32 (emphasis added).

The historical discussion earlier indicates that the terms "National Guard" and "Reserves" were used by the legislature to connote different organizations, and that legislative intent should prevail over the federal definition. By following this approach, each statute retains meaning with no duplication, and each can be given its intended effect.

Thus, §39-1-35 is only applicable to members of the Guard, and § 39-3-2 is only applicable to members of the Reserve. As defendant McEvelly is a member of the Guard, §39-3-2 is inapplicable to him.

POINT III

NEITHER § 39-1-35 OR § 39-3-2 IS APPLICABLE TO EMPLOYEES OF WASATCH FRONT

As discussed above, § 39-1-35, which applies to members of the Guard, affords military leave pay only to state employees. Section 39-3-2, which applies to members of the Reserves, affords military leave pay to state employees and employees of any county and municipality thereof. Section 39-3-1 is broader still, giving leave of absence and protec-

tion against any diminution of benefits to both the Guard and reserves when called to active duty, and it applies to employees of the state, any municipal corporation, political subdivision or governmental district.

Defendants contend that Wasatch Front's employees are state employees for purposes of §§ 39-1-35 and 39-3-2. They base this claim upon the Utah Interlocal Co-operation Act, §§ 11-13-1 et seq., Utah Code Ann., which provides that a separate legal entity formed pursuant to said act "is deemed a political subdivision of the state." § 11-13-5.5, Utah Code Ann.

They then claim that employees of political subdivision of the state are state employees. This argument is unsound under the terms of both the Interlocal Co-operation Act and the three military benefit statutes discussed earlier.

The definitional section of the Interlocal Co-operation Act, § 11-13-3, provides:

Definitions. --The following terms wherever used or referred to in this act, shall have the following meanings:

(1) "Public agency" shall mean any political subdivision of this state, including but not limited to cities, towns, counties, school districts and special districts of various kinds; any agency of the state government or of the United States; and any political subdivision of another state.

Thus, the term "public agency" includes political subdivisions such as cities, towns, counties, school districts, and special districts of various kinds. As already discussed, under §11-13-5.5 Wasatch Front is deemed to be a political subdivision.

However, under defendants' contention that an employee of a political subdivision of the state is a state employee, every city employee, county employee, school district employee, and special district employee would also be a state employee. Such a result is absurd, and would make those separate terms meaningless as they are used in the military benefit statutes.

The logical conclusion is again that the legislature used different terms in the different military benefit statutes intending to cover different groups of public employees.

Accepting defendants' contention would also ignore the specific use of the term "governmental district" in the 1941 act (§39-3-1) and the specific use of the term "political subdivision of the state" in the title to that same statute, and would nullify the separate meaning of those terms. Obviously, if the legislature had intended § 39-1-35 to cover more than state employees, or for § 39-3-2 to cover more than state, county, and municipal employees, they could have used the

additional language found in § 39-3-1. That different terms are specifically used in each statute precludes the defendants' contention that "state employees" means "employees of a political subdivision of the state;" to hold otherwise would be to ignore an obvious legislative intent.

As the employees of Wasatch Front are not state employees, nor employees of a county or municipality, they are not included within the scope of §§ 39-1-35 or 39-3-2.

POINT IV

AT MOST ONLY § 39-3-2, AND NOT § 39-1-35,
IS APPLICABLE TO EMPLOYEES OF WASATCH FRONT

For purposes of the Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 63-30-1 et seq., the Interlocal Co-operation Act, § 11-13-24, provides in part:

Officers and employees performing services for two or more public agencies pursuant to contracts executed under the provisions of this act shall be deemed to be officers and employees of the public agency employing their services. . . .

In the instant case, the individual public agency members of Wasatch Front are various "county councils of government." Arguably, under the provisions of § 11-13-24, cited above, employees of Wasatch Front are thereby deemed to be employees of councils, at least for some purposes.

In the instant case, § 11-13-24 provides, at best, an awkward result. Defendants' use of this approach in the instant case requires a conclusion that "employees of county councils of government" are equivalent to "county employees." This is

not the type of situation for which § 11-13-24 was intended or should be used. It is a clearer and more satisfactory result to apply § 11-13-5.5, cited earlier, and thereby conclude that Wasatch Front's employees are deemed employees of "a political subdivision of the state."

However, even assuming that Wasatch Front's employees are deemed county employees in the instant case, only § 39-3-2, and not § 39-1-35, purports to cover county employees. And, as discussed earlier, § 39-3-2 is not applicable to members of the Guard, but only to members of the Reserve. Therefore, as defendant McEvilly is a Guard member, he cannot claim coverage under § 39-3-2 even if Wasatch Front's employees are deemed county employees under the provisions of § 11-13-24.

POINT V

WASATCH FRONT'S POLICY OF DIFFERENTIAL PAY IS
THE FULL PAY REQUIRED BY §§ 39-1-35 AND 39-3-2.

If Wasatch Front is subject to §§ 39-1-35 or 39-3-2, the question remains as to what is meant by "full pay." In deciding such questions of statutory construction the court must again look at the entire statute to determine the intent of the legislature. In Grant v. Utah State Land Board, 26 Utah 2d 100, 485 P.2d 1035 (1971), the court stated:

[T]here is also this principle to be considered: that where there is ambiguity or uncertainty in a portion of a statute, it is proper to look to the entire act in order to discern its meaning and intent; and if it is reasonably susceptible of different interpretations, the one should be

chosen which best harmonizes with its general purpose. 485 P.2d at 1037 (emphasis added).

Section 43 of the State Militia Act, Ch. 99, Laws of Utah 1917, enumerated specific dollar amounts for the pay of state militia in the service of the state. Section 43 included the following restriction:

Provided: that this State shall make no payments to members of the militia in the case of service for which the United States government makes payment. The annual encampment of the national guard will be considered as in the service of the State.

Thus, duplicate federal-state payments were prohibited. As the annual encampment was considered state service, there was no federal payment involved. Therefore, no violation of the duplicate payment prohibition occurred when the state paid salaries of men in the militia.

However, in 1919 the statute was amended as follows:

Encampments of the National Guard shall be such as provided for by the Secretary of War, under Section 94 of the Acts of Congress, approved June 3, 1916, known as the National Defense Act. The cost and maintenance, transportation, subsistence and expense for such encampment and maneuvers shall not be paid by the State, but as provided for by Section 94, Act of Congress, approved June 3, 1916. Ch. 75, Laws of Utah 1919 (emphasis added).

Thus the expenses of annual encampment were no longer paid by the state, but by the federal government. As such, the duplicate federal-state payment prohibition would bar any state payment, such as that provided in § 39-1-35, where the services were compensated by the federal government.

The present statutes provide:

39-1-51. Pay of national guard members. -- When called into the service of the state and not in the service of the United States, the members of the national guard shall receive the same pay and allowance as members of the regular army or regular air force of like rank and length of service. In addition to the above pay, officers and enlisted personnel shall receive one ration per day; provided, that this state shall make no payments to members of the national guard in the case of service for which the United States government makes payment. (Emphasis added).

39-1-52. Encampments.--Encampments of the national guard shall be such as may be provided for by the national guard bureau and under authority of Congress. The cost of maintenance, transportation and subsistence, and other expenses of such encampments and maneuvers, shall not be paid by the state, but as provided for by Congress. (Emphasis added).

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