1979

Wasatch Front Regional Council v. Scott M. Matheson et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a Declaratory Judgment action seeking construction of the provisions of Sections 39-1-35 and 39-3-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Motions for Summary Judgment were filed by all parties and were argued before the Honorable G. Hal Taylor on December 15, 1978. The Court entered its Order on February 2, 1979, granting defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment and denying plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondents seek affirmance of the Order entered on February 2, 1979, by Judge G. Hal Taylor.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondents basically accept the statement of facts submitted by Appellant except for the assertion that "several other agencies, organizations and governmental subdivisions had similar policies of supplementing pay of individuals on military leave." As to governmental subdivisions or agencies this is obviously not true in the State of Utah and respondents respectfully take issue with such allegation.

POINT I

WASATCH FRONT IS SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTIONS 39-1-35 OR 39-3-2, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

Appellant argues that employees of Wasatch Front Regional Council are not state employees for purposes of either sections 39-1-35 or 39-3-2 of the Utah Code. (See Point III of Appellant's Brief) Section 11-13-1 of the Utah Code specifically states that a separate legal entity formed pursuant to the Act (Utah Interlocal Cooperation Act) is deemed a "political subdivision of the State."

Appellant refers to Section 11-13-3 and specifically the definition of "public agency" and then asserts that since that term includes all political subdivisions of the State that respondents are asserting that the employees of a "public agency" are "state employees" and that this is an absurd result since it would make employees of all "public agencies" state employees.

This is a case of setting up a "straw man" so it can be demolished with no reference to the actual argument advanced by respondents.

Since Wasatch Front is specifically defined to be a "political subdivision of the State," employees thereof are either "state employees," or employees of a "political subdivision of the State." The member organizations of Wasatch Front are "political subdivisions" of the State and in this case, either municipalities or counties. It is logical to

assume that the employees of Wasatch Front would fall into the category of either "municipal" or "county employees." The fact is that Section 11-13-24 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, seems to imply this by stating that officers and employees of contracting agencies "shall be deemed officers and employees of said public agencies." In the case of Wasatch Front, the "contracting agencies" are either municipalities (cities) or counties and thus subject to the obligations imposed on cities and counties including specifically the requirement to pay military leave pay. To conclude otherwise would lead to an "absurd" result. For instance, if a city desired to relieve itself of certain responsibilities it could presumably enter into a contract with another "public agency" under the Interlocal Act and employ that agency to perform city services without the necessity of performing any requirements or responsibilities the city felt were burdensome, onerous or otherwise disadvantageous to the city. Certainly the Legislature in adopting the Interlocal Cooperation Act did not intend it to be a vehicle for "public agencies" to circumvent the law and legal requirements otherwise applicable to a "public agency."

Respondents submit that employees of Wasatch Front either qualify as "state employees" by virtue of Section 11-13-1 or they fall into the category of employees of a "city or county"

and they would in either event be entitled to the benefits of "military leave" as provided in Section 39-1-35 or 39-3-2 Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

Wasatch Front Regional Council is funded by tax revenues of cities and counties within the geographical area of Wasatch Front. Federal grant in aid money is received as well under certain federal aid programs. Respondents submit that so long as the Board of Directors are made up of city and county officials and funding is supplied by cities and counties, there is no justification for a finding that appellant is not responsible to pay military leave pay as specified in Section 39-1-35 or Section 39-3-2.

POINT II

SECTION 39-3-2 APPLIES TO THE NATIONAL GUARD AS WELL AS THE OTHER RESERVE COMPONENTS.

Appellant mistakenly asserts that the National Guard is not a "reserve component" or that in some way the Legislature intended to create a distinction between the coverage contemplated in Section 39-3-2 for the "organized reserve" as it applies to other than state employees and the more restrictive coverage afforded in Section 39-1-35.

As can be seen by a simple reading of Section 39-1-35, enacted in 1917, the intent of that Section was to encourage membership in the National Guard by state employees. At

that time in our history the National Guard was for all intents and purposes the "reserve," at least as far as this State was concerned. It was also just prior to entry by the U. S. in World War I when national mobilization was beginning. This was one year after the National Congress passed the National Defense Act of 1916, which among other things provided for funding of the National Guard by the United States and provided for its inclusion as a "reserve" force. (See 39 Stat. at Large 166)

In 1955 the Legislature obviously recognized the inequity which then existed of granting military leave only to state employees who belonged to the National Guard and apparently decided to extend the benefit of military leave to not only state employees but to county and municipal employees as well, and to extend the benefit to members of the "organized reserve of the U.S. Army, Navy, Air Force and Marines."

Since the obvious intent of the Legislature in 1955 was to extend the scope of military leave and its application, it is not reasonable to conclude as appellant asserts, that the Legislature did not intend for 39-3-2 to apply to the National Guard, as well as the "organized reserve." If appellant were correct, it would mean that a National Guardsman employed by a city or county would not be entitled to

military leave while a fellow employee who was a reservist would. This is not reasonable and plainly was not the intent of the Legislature.

Ever since the National Defense Act of 1916, the National Guard has been funded by the U.S. Government, has trained pursuant to requirements originating with the U.S. Government and has been considered within the terms "organized reserve" or "reserve component" of the United States. This has been formalized by definition in the United States Code since July 9, 1952, when the definition now found in 10 U.S.C., 26 was adopted. (See 66 Stat. at Large 483.)

Obviously, the Utah State Legislature was aware that the National Guard of the State of Utah, both Army and Air were included within the category of the "organized reserve of the U.S. Army, Navy, Air Force and Marines" when they enacted Section 39-3-2. To conclude otherwise is totally unrealistic.

In 10 U.S.C., 261 the Reserve Components of the United States are designated and this designation includes both the "Army National Guard of the United States" and "the Air National Guard of the United States." These terms are defined in 10 U.S.C. 101 and clearly provide that members of the National Guard, both Army and Air are also concurrently members of the "Reserve Components."

There is no difference between a National Guardsman and a reservist as far as training standards, pay and allowances, promotion standards or uniform requirements. The only distinction is that a guardsman is technically under control of the Governor while a reservist is not. To conclude that the Legislature in enacting 39-3-2 intended to restrict its application to "members of the organized reserves" without including the National Guard, or to in any way restrict its application is not realistic. They obviously were extending the benefits of military leave, not restricting it as appellant's position would effectively do.

Appellant is too concerned with trying to distinguish between the language of a statute and terms then used to designate reserve organizations with today's definition of the "reserve components." Regardless of name, the Reserve Components as defined today in 10 U.S.C. 261, all had their predecessors, who were designated somewhat differently but who had essentially the same function. It is also obvious that these "reserve organizations" were all intended to be encompassed within the term used by the State Legislature in the language now incorporated in 39-3-2 Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

POINT III

THE PROVISIONS OF 39-1-35 AND 39-3-2 CAN BE HARMONIZED.

In addition to the argument set out in Point II of this brief, respondents allege further that there is no conflict in fact between Sections 39-3-2 and 39-1-35. Section 39-3-2 is merely an amplification of 39-1-35 and extends the coverage already a part of the law to employees of cities or counties and to "reservists" as opposed to only state employees who belonged to the National Guard.

Appellant's argument about giving both statutes "meaning" thus defeating benefits to guardsmen employed by cities or counties was obviously not intended and is an unreasonable interpretation. The past practices of Wasatch Front show this to be the case since they have paid military leave to guardsmen and even their new clearly erroneous policy of paying the pay differential does not distinguish between guardsmen and "reservists." This Court has commented on the weight to be given an administrative determination when a question of statutory interpretation is presented in the case of Salt Lake City vs. Salt Lake County, 568 P.2d 738 (1977):

Nevertheless, we further observe that the correctness of the trial court's decision also finds support in this

additional proposition: that in case of any uncertainty or ambiguity in a statute, a reasonable administrative interpretation and practice should be given some weight, and this is particularly true when such an administrative interpretation and practice has persisted for a long time without any legislative correction or change.

The Court then went on to state with reference to the long practice followed by Salt Lake County in this case:

As we have observed in other fields of the law, if there is to be any abrupt about-face in policy, that should be done by the legislature rather than by the county officials adding in the self interest of the county.

See also Allison v. U.S., 301 F.2d 670 (1962) and cases cited therein on this proposition.

During the recent General Session of the Utah State Legislature a bill to amend both Sections 39-1-35 and 39-3-2 was before the House of Representatives as House Bill No. 18. (See Appendix for copy of Substitute House Bill No. 18 for reference.) The main thrust of this Bill was to provide for payment of only the differential between military pay and the pay otherwise due the employee from his regular employment as a state, county or municipal employee referred to as "full pay." This Bill was debated extensively and soundly defeated by the House of Representatives. The Legislature did not see fit to remove any alleged "ambiguity" between the two statutes in question.

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

While it can be argued that the enactment of Section 39-3-2 renders Section 39-1-35 somewhat unnecessary, it does not render that section inapplicable, nor does it conflict. It is obvious that 39-3-2 was not intended to conflict with 39-1-35 and to adopt Appellant's theory as urged in its argument creates an unreasonable effect and theoretically creates a discriminatory effect which was obviously not intended as already urged.

While the Supreme Court of Utah has not had an opportunity to speak out as yet with respect to 39-1-35 and 39-3-2 it did have such an opportunity with respect to 39-3-1 in the Critchlow v. Monson, 102 U. 378, 131 P.2d 794 (1942):

One of the apparent objects of the statute as well as that of similar statutes in other states, is to have a position or job open to the ones who are compelled to leave them temporarily because of the call to the armed forces. Among other things, the act was designed to aid morale. . . . The plaintiff has misconceived the objectives of the act. (p. 802, Pacific Rptr. cite.) (Emphasis supplied.)

It has long been the law of this state that if there is a lack of clarity in a statute the entire statute should be looked to and to the purposes for which the statute was sought to accomplish. Salt Lake City v. Salt Lake County, ^{sup} op cit. The Utah Supreme Court observed:

An even more fundamental rule of statutory interpretation helpful here is that the

statute should be looked at in its entirety and in accordance with the purpose which was sought to be accomplished.
(Citing authority)

POINT IV

"FULL PAY" AS USED IN SECTIONS 39-1-35 AND 39-3-2 MEANS THE PAY OTHERWISE DUE THE EMPLOYEE BY THE PUBLIC ENTITY WITHOUT ANY REDUCTION FOR PAY RECEIVED FROM MILITARY SERVICE.

As already commented upon in Point III, in the recent General Session of the Legislature in 1979, the House of Representatives rejected H.B. 18 which would have reduced the pay entitlement of public employees of the State and its subdivisions during periods of military leave from "full pay" to only the differential between the military pay and their regular full time pay. (See Appendix for copy of House Journal of February 9, 1979 detailing this action.)

Again, past precedent has been for public agencies of the State to pay "full pay" to members of the National Guard and the Reserve Components while in the status of military leave. The policy of the State of Utah since prior to 1965 has been to pay "full pay" in addition to any military pay the employee receives and to grant eleven working days of military leave to state employees. (R. 37-38)

Appellant's reference in Point V of its brief to the Militia Act of 1917, the Amendment of 1919 and to present Sections 39-1-51 and 39-1-52, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and the various prohibitions regarding double payment demonstrate

a basic misunderstanding of what the legislature intended by these sections. The Legislature was merely making reference to the fact that when the National Guard or "militia" was in a status where payment was made for their service by the federal government, no state payment for that service was to be made. This is the distinction between "state duty" and duty in a federal "active duty for training" status which has long been recognized. Nearly all National Guard service and active duty is on a regularly scheduled basis and is conducted under provisions of 32 U.S.C. 502, 503 or 504. Payment is made for this service by the federal government.

On infrequent emergency situations the National Guard may be called into state service for such emergencies as fire, floods or insurrection. In these instances they would be compensated by state funds. Thus the prescription of the sections cited by appellant is to guard against double payment when the guard is in a federal status. It has nothing to do with an employee of the State who is granted military leave pay as an inducement to belong to a reserve component.

That the Legislature understood the distinction between double pay for service and military leave pay for state employees is obvious since the same Legislature enacted both

Sections in 1917. (Section 43, Chapter 99, Laws of Utah 1917 and Section 27, Chapter 99, Laws of Utah 1917, respectively.)

Thus, Appellant's argument is totally frivolous and should be rejected.

As pointed out previously, the policy of the State of Utah and all cities and counties who have paid military leave, historically has been to pay the employee his "full salary" for that time involved in annual training referred to variously as "summer camp," "annual encampments," "active duty for training," etc., up to a maximum of 15 days annually. Traditionally, this payment has not been reduced, as Appellant urges, to reflect the pay differential between "full" military pay and pay due from the employer. This universal interpretation by public agencies generally of the plain statutory language is reasonable and should be strongly considered by this Court in reviewing this matter.

CONCLUSION

Respondents respectfully submit that the ruling of the District Court granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment should be sustained by this Court. The provisions of Sections 39-1-35 or 39-3-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, do not conflict and it is apparent that Section 39-3-2 was intended to amplify and extend the benefits of military leave to members of reserve